FILED

JUN 02 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

SC#93/83-6

NO. 72597-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

(Whatcom County Cause No. 08-2-00035-1)

STANLEY SMITH,

Appellant,

FILED
May 19, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

VS.

TERRY MARTIN and M&M TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Petitioners/Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas R. Shepherd, WSBA #9514 Bethany C. Allen, WSBA #41180 Kyle S. Mitchell, WSBA #47344 SHEPHERD and ALLEN 2011 Young Street, Suite 202 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 733-3773 or 647-4567

May 19, 2016

I - INTRODUCTION

After a five-day trial, the trial court entered sixty-two (62) findings of facts. See Appendix C. On appeal, Mr. Smith made two specific assignments of error, titled assignments A and B. See Appendix H. In his Assignment of Error A, Smith assigned error to "paragraphs" 3.21, 3.22, 3.23 and 3.24 of CP 125. In his Assignment of Error B, Smith assigned error to "paragraphs" 3.09, 3.45, 3.47, 4.02 and 5.03 of CP 125.

Assuming for the purposes of this appeal, Smith correctly appealed the trial court's findings of facts 3.09, 3.21, 3.22, 3.23, 3.24, 3.45, 3.47, 4.02 and 5.03, and he did not, Smith failed to assign error to more than fifty (50) other findings of fact, including, but not limited to: 1) M&M Technologies (M&M) and Stan Smith's (Smith) April 11, 2007, License Agreement is a valid contract, F/F 3.01; 2) M&M and Smith's April 11, 2007, Option Agreement is a valid contract, F/F 3.02; 3) the License Agreement and Option Agreement are enforceable agreements, F/F 3.06, 3.07; 4) the terms of the Agreements were negotiated after full disclosure of Martin and M&M to Smith of all information known to them regarding the SEC matter, F/F 3.19; 5) neither Martin nor M&M engaged in any action that prohibited M&M from enforcing the April 11, 2007 Agreements, F/F 3.04; 6) on May 28, 2007, Smith was aware of the SEC

Complaint, F/F 3.40; 7) an Agreement prepared by Smith after May 28, 2007, demonstrated that Smith was still willing to go forward with the Agreements, F/F 3.41; and, 8) M&M prevailed on its breach of contract claims against Smith, F/F 4.01.

The Court of Appeals decision failed to accept the unchallenged findings of the trial court as verities and is in clear conflict with the decisions of this Court. *Mueller v. Wells*, 185 Wn.2d 1, 367 P.3d 580 (2016).

After failing to accept the unchallenged findings as factually true, the Court of Appeals decision erroneously decided the 2007 Agreements are void. This legal conclusion, ignores the following unchallenged findings of fact: 1) on March 28, 2007, M&M had fully disclosed all information known by Martin and M&M related to the SEC matter, F/F 3.19; 2) on March 15, 2007, Martin and M&M disclosed to Smith that it was the subject of an SEC investigation, while not yet a relief defendant, both may be made a relief defendant, and both may be required to repay the government a yet undetermined amount of money, F/F 3.18; 3) neither Martin nor M&M were in bad faith, F/F 4.04; 4) neither Martin nor M&M were involved in fraud, F/F 4.05; and, 5) Smith was fully informed of the SEC matters before signing the contracts, what Smith was told about the

SEC matter was true, and if Smith needed additional information he had the duty to contact the SEC, F/F 4.06.

Presently, this Court holds that a contract is void only if a warranty, statement or representation involves a "false and fraudulent misrepresentation." *Devenny v. Automobile Owners' Interinsurance Ass'n of Washington*, 124 Wash. 453, 214 P. 833 (1923). If *Devenny* is no longer the law in Washington, this Court, not the Court of Appeals should change the law.

On appeal, Smith's attempt to challenge any finding of fact is procedurally incorrect. RAP 10.3(g). After his assignment(s) of error, the term "finding of fact" cannot be found in Smith's Opening Brief. Smith's Statement of Facts and Argument sections contain no reference to any finding of fact. Smith's conclusion simply reads "the trial court's finding that M & M did not breach paragraph 12.1(g) of the License Agreement should be reversed . . ." The Court of Appeals decision references only finding 3.22 in footnote 30, at page 9, as "Finding of Fact 3.22, Clerk's Papers at 14."

The Court of Appeals decision relies on evidence which not before the trial court, Exhibit 38. While Exhibit 38, may be the SEC's Complaint, there is no evidence the document was in existence prior to its service upon Martin in May 2007. Smith offered and the trial court admitted the document for the limited purpose of notice, in May, to Martin of an SEC claim. Exhibit 38 is otherwise an inadmissible hearsay document.

Notwithstanding, the Court of Appeals made its own, unsupported, "findings of fact" that (1) the Complaint constituted a "claim" that Martin and M&M were obligated to disclose to Smith in April of 2007, when the parties executed their contracts; and (2) the failure to disclose had "a material adverse effect" on Smith. Each of such Court of Appeal's "findings of fact" ignores the trial court's unchallenged findings of fact, including F/F 3.40 and 3.41. In making such "findings of fact" the Court of Appeal also ignored this Court's holding in *Mueller v. Wells*, 185 Wn.2d 1, which forbids appellate courts from making findings of fact.

II – IDENTITY OF PETITIONER(S)

Petitioners M&M Technologies, Inc. ("M&M"), a Washington corporation, and Terry Martin ("Martin") are the persons filing the petition. Petitioners were the Respondents in the Court of Appeals.

III - CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On February 8, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued its published opinion, *Martin v. Smith*, 192 Wn.App. 527, 368 P.3d 227 (Div. 1, 2016).

Appendix A. On April 19, 2016, Petitioners'/Respondents' Motion for Reconsideration was denied. Appendix B.

IV - ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. May the Court of Appeals ignore unchallenged findings of fact, which are verities on appeal, which contradict with the only two findings addressed and reversed? [No.]
- 2. May the Court of Appeals void a contract for a breach of warranty without a finding of fraud or an intent to deceive, as required by *Devenny*? [No.]
- 3. May the Court of Appeals act as a fact finder, and consider evidence that is not part of the record, Exhibit 38, to establish that a "claim" existed prior to the execution of the Agreements? [No.]

V – STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In early 2007, M&M needed cash. Its business plan disclosed that M&M projected, for 2007, operating costs and expenses of \$28,000,000, to develop and market its EVERSEAL Technology. M&M projected a loss of \$22,000,000 for 2007. RP 247:14–248:2. The business plan also projected the need for \$39,000,000 in 2008, with an expected loss of \$13,670,000. Exh. 32; RP 306:21–308:5. Martin gave Smith copies of M&M's business plan. *Id*.

In March of 2007, Smith and M&M began discussing terms and conditions of a business relationship in the development and marketing of the EVERSEAL Technology. CP 8, 13; F/F 3.16, 3.17; RP 68, 145-46; Exh. 1, 2, 3. On March 15, 2007, before Smith paid any money to M&M, M&M and Smith . . .

met and discussed their pending business arrangement(s) and certain confidential intellectual property. At this meeting the following information was disclosed to Smith:

- A. M&M Technologies was subject to an investigation by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) regarding its business relationships with GEM Manufacturing, Inc. (GEM), Mac Stevenson and/or International Fiduciary Corporation, S.A (IFC).
- B. M&M Technologies, while not a relief defendant at the time, had the potential of becoming a relief defendant in the SEC action;
- C. The interruption of M&M Technologies' business relationship with GEM, caused by the SEC investigation, had created a cash flow problem or crunch for M&M Technologies; and.
- D. M&M Technologies may be required to repay the U.S. government an undetermined amount.

CP 13; F/F 3.18. Smith did not assign error to F/F 3.18. App. Opening Brief. These findings are verities on appeal. They are supported by substantial evidence. RP 208-09, 218:10-15, RP 355-56; Exh. 22.

Between March 2007 and April 11, 2007, Smith and M&M prepared, drafted, and discussed a number of documents, including a Letter of Intent, Confidentiality Agreement, and Share Certificate. Exh. 7,

12, 29. On April 11, 2007, Smith and M&M signed a *License Agreement*. The *License Agreement* required Smith to pay M&M FIVE MILLION DOLLARS (\$5,000,000) upon signing the *License Agreement*. Exh. 1. Smith paid M&M only \$500,000. CP 15; F/F 3.25; RP 280-289; Exh. 10. In April of 2007, Smith informed M&M that Smith's family "were billionaires" and the remaining \$4,500,000 could and would be paid immediately ("very quickly"). RP 175-76, 169:21 – 170:1.

On April 11, 2007, Smith and M&M also signed an *Option Agreement*. Exh. 2. Smith paid \$100,000 for the options. CP 15; F/F 3.27; Exh. 2; RP 171. Smith never exercised any options granted. CP 15; F/F 3.29. The *Option Agreement* provided that M&M would not be required to return the \$100,000 to Smith.¹

The *License Agreement* contained the following warranty or representation: "the Warranting Party is not presently the subject of, nor the proponent of, any claim that would have a material adverse effect on the other Party." Exh. 1. On April 11, 2007, neither M&M nor Martin

[&]quot;7.1 Upon termination of the Option Agreement, other than as a result of the exercise of the Option: ... M&M ... shall not be required to return to SS any amounts paid by SS to M&M ... pursuant to the Option Agreement. ... 8.... In no event shall either Party be liable to the other Party for indirect, incidental, consequential, exemplary or punitive damages for any breach of any provision of this Agreement or rising out of the relationship established by this Agreement." Exh. 2.

had any knowledge of any Complaint or summons being issued in any court against them. RP 174:7-11.

In May of 2007, Martin was notified of a SEC claim against him and M&M. RP 173:13-21, 259:17. When he was served with the SEC Complaint, Martin advised Smith of the claim. RP 173. Smith offered the trial court no evidence of an SEC Summons or Complaint as of April 11, 2007. Exhibit 38, as offered and admitted, does not establish that an SEC Complaint (claim) existed on April 11, 2007. Exhibit 38 was offered and admitted "for the limited purpose of notice" to Martin, in May 2007, of a claim.

MR. SHEPHERD: Well, they've -- in their trial brief, I read their trial brief differently than that argument whether he had notice or not. It depends on whether the suit was actually in existence at this time

THE COURT: It seems to me if someone is aware a Complaint is or may be filed, they have some notice, and I think that's the issue before this Court, whether there's notice or not, and what kind of notice it is.

MR. SHEPHERD: Yeah.

THE COURT: Which you can address with redirect.

MR. KARLBERG: All right. All right. With that in mind, is Exhibit 38 admitted for the limited purpose of notice? THE COURT: I will admit it for limited purposes.

RP 262. (Emphasis added.) Smith did not appeal the trial court's ruling on the limited relevancy of Exhibit 38. RP 262; Appendix H. On May 28, 2007, Smith's CPA told him that the SEC had filed a federal lawsuit

against M&M. CP 16; F/F 3.40; RP 88:3-10. After learning of the SEC Complaint from Martin and his CPA, Smith did not complain to M&M or Martin about the SEC matters. In 2007, Smith did not attempt to rescind or void the *License Agreement* or any other agreement.

In another finding that was not assigned error on appeal, the trial court determined that Smith's actions after May 28, 2007, demonstrated that Smith (through NuPower) was willing to go forward with the agreements. CP 16; F/F 3.41; Exh. 6. On June 1, 2007, Smith, in violation of the *License Agreement*, assigned his rights and interests in the EVERSEAL Technology to NuPower Technologies, LLC (NuPower). *Id.* The *License Agreement* provided that the agreement could not be assigned without the prior written consent of M&M. Ex. 1, ¶ 19.1. Martin, on behalf of M&M, refused to approve the assignment. Martin asked Smith to delete paragraph 3 of the assignment before M&M would approve the assignment(s) to NuPower.² Exh. 6; RP 172:10-21.

The Research, Development & Testing Agreement (the R&D Agreement) required Smith to begin making monthly payments to M&M of \$110,000. Exh. 3. On appeal, Smith did not assign error to any of the

 $^{^2}$ "M&M Technologies hereby acknowledges the assignment as set forth herein, accepts the same and aggress that it will hereafter look only to Assignee for performance of the obligations set forth in the Documents." Exh. 6 ¶ 3. See Appendix F.

trial court's findings of fact related to the *R&D Agreement*. App. Opening Brief. The *R&D Agreement* was a valid and enforceable agreement. CP 10, 12; F/F 3.02, 3.08. Smith made no payment on the *R&D Agreement*. CP 16; F/F 3.36. Smith repudiated the *R&D Agreement* on October 1, 2007. CP; 17; F/F 3.44; Ex. 24. As of October 2007, Smith owed M&M \$660,000 on the *R&D Agreement*. Before April 11, 2007, and after disclosing the \$56 million needed in the next two years and \$35 million in expected losses, M&M believed Smith understood the importance of Smith's \$5,000,000 immediate payment and \$110,000 monthly payments. RP 306:21-308:5.

Between June 1, 2007, and October 1, 2007, Smith, did not write, call or complain to M&M about the SEC Complaint against M&M. In October of 2007, NuPower sued M&M and Martin. Exh. 24. In its Complaint, NuPower admitted Smith had an obligation to pay M&M \$110,000 per month under the *R&D Agreement*. Exh. 24 ¶ 2.3. NuPower alleged that Smith had a verbal agreement with M&M which modified the *R&D Agreement*. *Id*. In its Complaint, NuPower alleged Smith's \$600,000 payed to M&M was pursuant to the *R&D Agreement*. Exh. 3, ¶ 2.1. At trial, Smith testified that the NuPower's allocations of payments on the *R&D Agreement* was not true. RP 471:19-472:19.

In its Complaint, NuPower falsely alleged that the SEC had secured a judgment against M&M for \$25,008,472.41, that M&M's assets were seized by the SEC, and that Martin was involved in fraud. Exh. 24, ¶ 2.6. At trial, Smith admitted that NuPower had no basis to make any of these false allegations. RP 484:1-485:10.

NuPower's Complaint disclosed that NuPower intended to market securities (NuPower stock) to raise the money due to M&M from Smith. Exh. 24 ¶ 2.6. As of June 1, 2007, Smith had not asked either his accountant or lawyer if Smith's plan to solicit investors through NuPower would be a violation of Washington or federal law. RP 487:17-488:7; Exh. 13. NuPower's Complaint did not seek to rescind, revoke or void any contract. To the contrary, NuPower's Complaint alleged the execution of and binding effect of three contracts, a breach of those contracts by M&M, and a right to damages for the alleged breaches. Exh. 24, ¶ 2.1, 3.1, 10.

On January 4, 2008, M&M sued Smith for breach of all three Agreements. CP 43, 47 ¶¶ 19, 20. In its Complaint, M&M alleged that Smith and NuPower were wrongfully attempting to acquire or exert ownership or control over the EVERSEAL Technology. CP 47 ¶ 21. On April 1, 2008, Smith and NuPower answered and counterclaimed against

M&M and Martin. CP 70. Smith's counterclaims included an allegation of breach of contract. Smith, in a verified pleading, alleged the agreements the Court of Appeals voided were valid contracts, breached by M&M, for which Smith was entitled to damages. *Id*.

In December 2011, Smith testified that in 2011 NuPower "owned" M&M's EVERSEAL Technology. RP 66:7-67:22; Exh. 9, 25; Appendix G. At that time, Smith owed M&M more than \$10,000,000.

In their 2008 counterclaim, Smith and NuPower alleged as follows regarding their breach of contract/warranty claim:

- that M&M breached the three Agreements "when they failed to meet their end of the bargain in developing the product, producing marketing material, applying invested funds into M&M Technologies, Inc. and the technology and being a solvent entity capable of securing investment funding."
- that M&M had breached the claim warranty by its "failure to disclose the pending claim and investigation."

CP 77 ¶¶ 4.1, 5.1. (Emphasis added.)

As discussed above, at page 5, Smith did not assign error to F/F 3.18. Also, Smith did not assign error to trial court's finding of fact that prior to April 11, 2007, M&M and Martin had fully disclosed to Smith all information they knew regarding the SEC investigation. CP 14; F/F 3.19. This finding is supported by substantial evidence. RP 208-09, 355-56; Exh. 22. The fact of M&M's full disclosure is a verity on appeal. Smith's

breach of contract allegations were related to alleged fraud and intentional or negligent misrepresentation regarding the SEC investigation. CP 70. Smith did not assign error to the trial court finding that the information provided by M&M placed a duty on Smith to conduct his own inquiry into the status of the SEC investigation if he had any concerns. CP 19; F/F 4.06(D). Again, this finding is a verity on appeal.

Three months after Smith's answer and counterclaim's were filed and served, M&M, and three other relief defendants, settled the SEC Complaint against the four of them for \$633,867.19 collectively. Exh. 23. At that time, Smith owed M&M more than \$6,000,000.

VI – ARGUMENT³

In the trial court, Smith did not argue that his breach of the warranty claim, if successful, voided any contract. To the contrary, Smith argued it was Smith's fraud claim that allowed the trial court to void the contracts. RP 520. In the trial court, Smith did not argue that his breach of the warranty claim, if successful, made any contract voidable. To the contrary, Smith argued to the trial court it was Smith's misrepresentation claim that made the contract(s) voidable. RP 528-530.

³ The criteria governing acceptance of review by this Court are set forth in RAP 13.4(b).

Smith, in closing, did not argue the law or facts the Court of Appeals relied on in its Decision; instead, Smith argued credibility. Smith argued that in order to believe the SEC matter was fully disclosed, the trial court would need to determine Smith a fool. RP 529-30. Smith argued that he was not a fool and if M&M had disclosed the SEC investigation, Smith would have understood the significance of the SEC investigation and he would not have "done the deal." *Id.*

Smith's above arguments failed at the trial court level. Until 2011, Smith made no effort to void the agreements. Smith's efforts were spent attempting to retain the full benefits of the agreements for his corporation, NuPower, while avoiding any personal liability for his obligations under the agreements. He was not successful, so at trial years later, under fraud and misrepresentation, he attempted to void the agreements.

Smith and NuPower, on appeal, did not assign error to F/F 4.06, where the trial court specifically found:

- 4.06 With regard to Smith's claims of fraud and misrepresentation the Court finds specifically that:
- A. Martin and M&M Technologies informed Smith of all they knew about the SEC action at the time of the disclosures and at the time of the contracting;
- B. A fact cannot be false if it is true, and when the SEC matters were disclosed by Martin and M&M Technologies the facts, as disclosed, were true;

C. Martin and M&M Technologies provided all the information they had, including the business plan, the SEC investigation, and their need for immediate money;

F/F 4.06; CP 18-19. (Emphasis added.) These findings, which are verities on appeal, are supported by substantial evidence. RP 208-09, 355-56; Exh. 22. "Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal." *In re A.W.*, 182 Wn.2d 689, 711, 344 P.3d 1186 (2015).

When the trial court enters findings of fact and conclusions of law, our review is limited to determining if the findings of fact are supported by substantial evidence and if the findings of fact support the conclusions of law. *Douglas v. Visser*, 173 Wash.App. 823, 829, 295 P.3d 800 (2013). Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the declared premise. *Id.* We review all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the prevailing party. *Jensen v. Lake Jane Estates*, 165 Wash.App. 100, 104, 267 P.3d 435 (2011). Though the trier of fact is free to believe or disbelieve any evidence presented at trial, we do not hear or weigh evidence, find facts, or substitute our opinions for those of the trier of fact. *Id.* at 105, 267 P.3d 435. Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal. *Id.*

Top Line Builders, Inc. v. Bovenkamp, 179 Wn.App. 794, 803-04, 320 P.3d 130 (Div. 1, 2014). In his opening brief, Smith appealed only findings 3.21, 3.22, 3.23 and 3.24, calling them paragraphs and without assigning any specific assignment of error to any. Appendix H. Smith's argument regarding any finding was: "the trial court's finding that M&M did not breach paragraph 12.1(g) of the License Agreement should be

reversed . . ." App. Opening Brief, 17. The Court of Appeals incorrectly determined that the trial court's conclusions of law were erroneous while finding that only one trial court finding of fact, 3.22, was not supported by substantial evidence. This is error.

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