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

confirmed repeatedly that the successful completion of R&D to 

develop an actual product was a precursor, i.e., a condition 

precedent, to any license rights that was being granted under the 

Agreements. RP 409-422. The payments to be made at the time of 

signed were characterized as "deposits" for when R&D efforts 

proved to be successful. RP 98-100. 

Mr. Smith, whose experience was in residential real estate, 

not technology or licensing agreements, indicated that he was 

uncomfortable signing without consulting with an attorney. 

However, instead of encouraging Mr. Smith to have the 

Agreements independently reviewed, Mr. Martin recommended a 

local counsel, Mr. Edwin Hubbard, who thereafter represented all 
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parties in the transaction. RP 70-71, 299-302. Mr. Smith did not 

learn until after the fact that Mr. Hubbard had performed legal 

services for M&M and that Mr. Martin had studied under Mr. 

Hubbard's tutelage to become a lawyer.6 RP 299-303. 

III. ANSWER AND ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals' limited reliance upon Ex. 38 as 
clear and substantial evidence of the existence of a 
"claim" was appropriate and is not in conflict with 
Washington Supreme Court precedent. 

1. The Court of Appeals' limited reliance upon 
Ex. 38 was unnecessary because substantial 
undisputed testimony and evidence in the 
record before the Court of Appeals established 
the existence of a "claim" earlier in time. 

The Court of Appeals properly relied upon the SEC's First 

Amended Complaint as clear evidence that a "claim" existed at 

least as of April 9, 2007, and in doing so, the Court of Appeals 

elected "not to address whether a claim by the SEC existed [earlier 

in time] during its investigation." Martin v. Smith, 192 Wn.App. 

527, 536, 368 P.3d 227 (2016). However, the Court of Appeals 

was fully aware of the SEC's earlier demands on Petitioners (e.g., 

in correspondence between the Petitioners and the SEC and from 

6 Mr. Smith settled his malpractice suit against Mr. Hubbard in Whatcom 
County Superior Court, Cause No. 10-2-02997-1, for inter alia failing to 
disclose conflicts of interest, etc., and for not explaining aspects of the 
Agreements that may appear to be different from the oral understandings 
between the parties. Exh. 9. 
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Mr. Martin's testimony at trial) and Petitioners' admissions that the 

ill-gotten funds from the Ponzi scheme were in Petitioners' 

possession. Appellant's Opening Brief at pp. 7-8; Appellant's 

ReplyBriefatpp. 6-7; Exhs. 18-21,23,27,33-37,41, RP 187-199, 

268-271' 309-310. 

The Court of Appeals chose, in its discretion, to use the 

First Amended Complaint as the basis of its decision because Ex. 

38 is clearly and unequivocally a "claim" such that an independent 

analysis of the SEC/Martin!M&M correspondence and associated 

testimony was unnecessary. In so ruling, the Court of Appeals 

correctly held that issue of prior "notice" of Ex. 38 was irrelevant. 

Id. at 538. The mere existence of the SEC's claim, whether known 

or unknown to Petitioners, was the relevant inquiry and the First 

Amended Complaint was the clearest (and most recent in time) 

evidence "that a claim by the SEC existed when the warranties in 

the agreements were executed," regardless of whether the First 

Amended Complaint had been filed or served. Id. at 536, 539. 

Use of Ex. 38 for this limited purpose by the Court of 

Appeals was appropriate and not contrary to either the trial court's 

ruling on the admission of Ex. 38, RP 259-262, or any contrary 

legal authority ofthis Court. Impliedly, notice ofthe First 

Amended Complaint presupposes that the First Amended 
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Complaint exists and its existence, as evidenced by the date that 

Ex. 38 was signed by the Attorney General (April9, 2007). This 

was not only the sum total of the Court of Appeals' limited 

reliance in support of its ruling, but the use is entirely consistent 

with the trial court's admission of Ex. 38. Petitioners overstate 

their case. 

2. The allegations and claims set forth in Ex. 38 
were not considered by the Court of Appeals 
for the truth of the matter asserted or to show 
"materiality". 

The Court of Appeals relied upon the First Amended 

Complaint as evidence that the SEC's claim had a material adverse 

effect on M&M' s ability to perform its obligations under the 

License Agreement and Option Agreement. Materiality was 

admitted by Petitioners and supported by such substantial 

testimony and evidence, RP 187-207, 268-290, 309-311, 318, that 

the trial court expressly found "materiality" in the context of 

holding that no "claim" existed: 

Now, I would further find that a requirement to pay $550,000 to 
the SEC by M&M would have been within the purview of 
paragraph 12.1(g) of the licensing agreement and paragraph 5 of 
the R & D Agreement (sic). If such a claim existed, it would be a 
material claim that might have a material adverse effect on the 
other party, but it didn't exist at the time. 

RP 11, Trial Court's Oral Decision. As such, the Court of 

Appeals did not create new "findings of fact," and even noted that 

Petitioners did not dispute this assertion by Smith (in their 
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response brief, at oral argument or on motion for reconsideration). 

Martin at 538; see Appellant's Opening Brief at p. 3; Appellant's 

Reply Brief, n. 1. 

B. Devenny is inapplicable-the Court of Appeals properly 
relied upon Miller to reaffirm that warranties are strictly 
enforced in the non-insurance commercial context. 

Miller Commercial Union Assurance Co., 69 Wash. 529, 

125 P. 782 (1912) is a century old decision that set forth the critical 

legal distinctions between representations and warranties 

generally. More importantly, Miller remains the common law of 

Washington as applied to the facts and circumstances before the 

Court of Appeals-specifically, in matters not involving warranties 

in insurance policies. 

The Court of Appeals understood Miller's limited post-

Devenny reach, and re-affirmed this Court's longstanding common 

law precedent that warranties are strictly enforced in the non-

insurance commercial context and void the contract even if the 

breaching party is unaware of the breach, the breach was 

immaterial, and/or the underlying facts of the breach was fully 

disclosed or known. Martin v. Smith, 192 Wn.App. 527, 537-540, 

368 P.3d 227 (2016); Jeffery v. Hanson, 39 Wn.2d 855, 239 P.2d 

346 (1952); see Edmonson v. Popchoi, 172 Wn.2d 272, 283, 256 

P.3d 1223 (2011)(grantee's prior knowledge of breach of warranty 
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is irrelevant to enforceability of statutory warranty deed). In so 

ruling, the Court of Appeals underscored that Miller provides 

certainty in business transactions, especially for business law 

practitioners who advise commercial clients. Decades of lawyers 

have relied upon the "bright line" articulated by Miller (and earlier 

cases) when drafting and enforcing contracts. See generally Pac. 

Power & Light Co. v. White, 94 Wash. 18, 26-28, 164 P. 602 

(1917); Springfield Shingle Co. v. Edgecomb Mill Co., 52 Wash. 

620, 623-30, 101 P. 233 (1909). 

Conversely, Petitioners' arguments would inject 

unpredictability and ambiguity into all non-insurance business 

transactions. If fraud or deceit was required to be proved 

(presumably by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence), every 

warranty in the non-insurance commercial context would 

potentially result in litigation regardless of the contracting parties' 

clear intent to the contrary. There would be no "bright line." 

Petitioners' newly-asserted reliance upon Devenny v. Automobile 

Owners' Interinsurance Ass'n of Washington, 124 Wash. 453, 214 

P. 833 (1923) is simply misplaced. Devenny, which was decided 

after Miller and after Rem. Comp. Stat. §34, ch. 49, Laws of 1911 

was enacted (recodified today as RCW 48.18.090), reflects a 
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legislative statutory "carve out" for insurance contracts from 

Miller's broader general holding. 7 

Simply put, the insurance industry is heavily regulated by 

statute for public policy reasons that do not exist in the non-

insurance commercial context, as here. See Touchette v. 

Northwestern Mut. Ins. Co., 80 Wn.2d 327, 333-34, 494 P.2d 479 

(1972); RCW 48.18.090(1 )( [N]o oral or written 

misrepresentation or warranty made in the negotiation of an 

insurance contract, by the insured or in his or her behalf, shall be 

deemed material or defeat or avoid the contract . . . , unless the 

misrepresentation or warranty is made with intent to deceive."); 

RCW 48.18.010 ("This chapter applies to insurances other than 

ocean marine and foreign trade insurances."); Riordan v. 

Commercial Travelers Mut. Ins. Co., 11 Wn.App. 707, 712, 525 

P.2d 804 (1974)(breach of warranty in insurance policies must 

have a causal connection to preclude recovery of damages). 

Petitioners' attempt to conflate misrepresentations and warranties 

outside of the limited Devenny insurance context, such that the 

distinction between the two oft-used contract provisions is 

7 Devenny was not raised by Petitioners at trial or prior to the Court of 
Appeals decision (either in briefing and oral argument). Devenny was 
first raised in Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration, along with legal 
theories of failure to rescind, ratification, repudiation, revocation and the 
very same arguments regarding Ex. 38 and failure to properly assign 
error. All arguments were summarily rejected. 
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meaningless, should be rejected. A careful reading of the two 

principal authorities relied upon by Petitioners, Devenny and 

Brigham v. Mutual Life Ins. Co of New York, 95 Wash. 196, 163 P. 

380 (1917), limit their application to insurance policies, which are 

highly regulated by statutes designed and intended to protect 

insureds from predatory underwriters who may arbitrarily and 

unfairly reject claims for property loss due to inadvertent mistakes 

in the insurance application process. Neither Devenny nor 

Brigham provide Petitioners with legal traction here. 

Petitioners further urge-before this Court, during oral 

argument and in their Motion for Reconsideration-that Mr. Smith 

failed to argue that Petitioners' breach of warranty at trial or that 

breach of the warranties voided the License and Options 

agreements. In effect, Petitioner argue "surprise" and invited error 

by cherry-picking (yet again) from Mr. Smith's closing argument.8 

8 During oral argument, Petitioners Counsel, Mr. Shepherd, represented 
to the Court of Appeals that Mr. Smith never raised and argued a breach 
of warranty theory at trial. The Court of Appeals expressly asked Mr. 
Smith's counsel, Mr. Karlberg, if Mr. Shepherd was correct. The 
transcript from oral argument will clearly and unequivocally reflect Mr. 
Karlberg's affirmation that the issue was raised at the trial level. 

In their Motion for Reconsideration, Petitioners changed tactics. By 
cherry-picking excerpts from Mr. Smith's closing argument, Petitioners 
acknowledge Mr. Smith raised and argued his breach of warranty claim 
at trial, but Petitioners urge that Mr. Smith did so only in the context of 
Mr. Smith's fraud and misrepresentation claims, i.e., the failure ofM&M 
to disclose material facts breached the warranty provisions at issue as 
opposed to the meaning of the word "claim." Again, Petitioners 
overreached, see Smith Response to Motion for Reconsideration at pp. 6-
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Petitioners are incorrect. The record is clear that Mr. Smith's 

breach of warranty claims were independent of his fraud and 

misrepresentation claims. The complete record of what was or was 

not argued at trial in opening and closing is set forth at RP 13-17 

(prior to opening arguments), 512, 515-538 (closing argument). 

Mr. Smith's breach of warranty claim was clearly argued as a 

separate and independent claim from the fraud-based claims. 

Likewise, Petitioners' characterization of what was or 

was not argued is directly at odds with the trial court's oral ruling 

on the findings of fact: 

Now, I would further find that a requirement to pay $550,000 to 
the SEC by M & M would have been within the purview of 
paragraph 12.1(g) of the licensing agreement, and paragraph 5 of 
the R & D agreement (sic). If such a claim existed, it would be a 
material claim that might have a material adverse effect upon the 
other party, but it didn't exist at the time.9 

I would find that as of the time that these documents were signed 
in April, and as of the time that the parties had the meeting on the 
15th of March that it was an inchoate claim only. Mister - or that 
Mr. Martin and M & M did not know on the day that the 
documents were signed that the actual amended complaint named 

9, which is why Petitioners' arguments were summarily dismissed by the 
Court of Appeals denial of the Motion for Reconsideration. 

9 The trial court's finding of materiality reflects Mr. Martin's 
unequivocal testimony that if the SEC demand had risen to the level of a 
"claim," the SEC claim would have had a material adverse effect on M & 
M, and by extension, Mr. Smith. RP 268-274. Petitioners never 
disputed these assertions at trial, during earlier briefing, or in oral 
argument. 
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them as relief defendants, or had been filed or prepared or any of 
that. There was an inchoate claim, a potential claim only. It may 
have never come to fruition. So it hadn't ripened in my opinion .. 

RP 11-12, Trial Court's Oral Decision. 

The trial court further confirmed his ruling m its 

conclusions of law as follows: 

First of all, breach of warranty, the only thing in the, when the 
warranty that has been presented to this Court is a potential breach 
is a failure to comply with paragraph 12.1(g) which is the warranty 
that there were no existing claims against or on behalf of either 
party, particularly the Plaintiff, that would have a detrimental 
effect on the other party. 

I find there was no existing claim. There was a potential claim. 
The potential claim was disclosed. There was no existing actual 
claim, and therefore, no breach of the warranty. 

RP 20, Trial Court's Oral Decision. 

Mr. Smith respectfully asserts that the trial court would 

not have made these findings and ruling if Petitioners' claim of 

"surprise" and invited error were true. 

C. Mr. Smith properly assigned error. 

One essential purpose of RAP 10.3 is to protect 

appellees from unfair surprise at the appellate level. Here, 

Petitioners make no such argument. Instead, Petitioners engage in 

legal semantics and hair-splitting, Petition at p. 1-2, 14-16, that 

were twice raised and rejected by the Court of Appeals. Petitioners 
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are correct-Mr. Smith did not assign error to FF 3.01, 3.02, 3.06, 

3.04, 4.06 and related findings of fact that were occurred post-

formation and/or irrelevant to the limited warranty-related issues 

before the Court of Appeals. Petitioners appear to argue, for 

example, that if Mr. Smith did not challenge the trial court's 

finding that the License and Options agreements are valid and 

enforceable, Mr. Smith is precluded from appealing the trial 

court's decision regarding the legal impact of the SEC's claim in 

the context of Mr. Smith's breach of warranty claims. Petitioners 

are incorrect. Petitioners may be correct if Mr. Smith were 

appealing the findings of fact and conclusions of law relating to his 

fraud and misrepresentation claims-either of which would have 

voided the two agreements prior to their formation. But Mr. Smith 

is not. See Appendix A to Appellant's Reply Brief; FF at 3.47, 

Remedy at 5.03, and CL 6, 8 and 11. 

The issues and inquiry before the Court of Appeals were 

post-formation contractual questions limited to April 11, 2007 and 

earlier in time, i.e., assuming the License and Option agreements 

were enforceable, may Mr. Smith void the agreements because 

Petitioners breached the warranty provisions? Simply put, Mr. 

Smith cannot allege breach of warranty unless the warranty 

provisions are enforceable. Likewise, Petitioners' reliance on 

downstream post-formation facts (April 12, 2007 and thereafter) 
18 



are misplaced because if the warranty provisions were breached, 

the respective agreements are voided, rendering the latter 

discussion irrelevant. 

In sum, RAP 10.3 was never intended to be a "gotcha" 

requirement in complicated litigation, where the subtle distinctions 

between pre- and post-formation claims and facts may preclude an 

appeal on the merits merely because one party or the other 

characterizes the disputed claims in one manner or another. RAP 

10.3 was never intended for this purpose. Notably, Petitioners do 

not contend they were prejudiced-they simply raise a hyper

technical legal argument that is form over substance. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Mr. Smith respectfully 

requests this Court to deny the Petition for Review. None of the 

considerations set forth in RAP 13.4 exist.